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INTRODUCTION

“People ask me what I do in the winter when there’s no baseball.  I’ll tell you what I do.  I stare out the window and wait for Spring.”








Rogers Hornsby 1

While most baseball fans have neither the desire nor luxury of sitting around the house all winter, most of us do share The Rajah’s anticipation for the start of Spring Training.  For “only” a few thousand dollars, today we can purchase travel/hotel/ticket/event packages to see our favorite teams train in Florida or Arizona, and put the memories of another cold winter behind us.

In the first few decades of the 20th century, there were no airlines or interstate highways to efficiently transport fans and players to Spring Training.  For that matter, the key sites for pre-season training had not yet gravitated to today’s Grapefruit and Cactus League cities.  While there has been no major league spring training in Texas for over sixty years, from 1900 to 1941 as many as seven major league teams concurrently held their pre-seasons in the Lone Star State.  San Antonio was by far the preferred Texas locale for managers to get their squads in shape.  Marlin, in central Texas about 100 miles south of Dallas, was the next most popular destination.  The Alamo City hosted major league teams for 29 seasons; Marlin was second in popularity with 16 seasons.2, 3, 8 
In 2007, Texas members of the Society for American Baseball Research (SABR) launched an effort to locate and commemorate major league Texas spring training sites from the early 20th Century.  This paper is a result of that project as it pertains to the people, players, and personalities in long-ago Marlin, Texas.
BACKGROUND

Just how did Marlin become a key destination for spring training in the early 1900’s?  The answer is closely tied to the history and development of this central Texas town.    

For nearly 60 years, beginning in the late 19th century, Marlin was a popular resort location.  The key attraction was the town’s hot mineral baths.  The natural waters were discovered by accident in 1892, when a new well being sunk for drinking water produced a gusher of 147-degree water containing large amounts of sodium, sulfur, magnesium, iron, and other minerals.4
At that time, Marlin had two hospitals and was already a regional medical center.  The first bathhouse was built in 1895 to capitalize on the new found mineral waters.  The tubs of the Marlin Sanitarium and other bathhouses that followed attracted thousands of the afflicted, as well as many “health vacationers.”5   To support this expanded medical trade, along with the growing tourist traffic, several first-class hotels were built.  These hotels included the Arlington, the Majestic, and the Falls (the eighth hotel in Conrad Hilton’s growing chain).

The railroads helped bring these travelers and their business to Marlin.  The Houston and Texas Central Railway (H&TC) completed its line through Marlin in 1871.  The International-Great Northern (I&GN) laid its tracks into town in 1901, followed by the Missouri Pacific in 1902.5  

The availability of first-class hotels, the therapeutic waters, and good transportation via the railroads were all key factors that attracted major league baseball to Marlin.  Beginning in 1904, five different major league teams spent all or part of the pre-season in Marlin.  They were:

Chicago White Sox



1904, 1923

St. Louis Cardinals



1905


Cincinnati Reds



1906 - 1907

Philadelphia Athletics



1907


New York Giants



1908 - 1918, 1923
WHITE SOX, CARDINALS, REDS and ATHLETICS -- 1903 – 1907

The Chicago American League team almost came to Marlin in 1903.  In early February Ted Sullivan, baseball entrepreneur and associate of Chicago owner Charles Comiskey, was in contact with Marlin city officials about the possibility of the White Sox training in Marlin the next month, rather than in Mobile, Alabama.3A   Within two days, Marlin responded with a strong invitation to the Chicago club and committed to providing a suitable park and grounds if the team would come.  Apparently the window of opportunity was just a little too narrow, as Comiskey wrote the following week that his team would not be able to come in 1903.  He did, however, clearly leave the door open for the following year.3B   With expectations that they would have a major league team in Spring 1904, the city of Marlin proceeded with improvements to “the ballpark at the old fairgrounds.”
The city fathers’ hopes were realized when Ted Sullivan came back to Marlin in late December of 1903, to meet with a local delegation at the Arlington Hotel.  Sullivan pronounced that the Chicago club was satisfied with arrangements, and that the team would indeed train at Marlin.  The White Sox arrived in Marlin on March 7, 1904.  Along with the team were four Chicago newspapermen.  The local Marlin Democrat reporter wrote his expectation that “a million people will, for their first time, possibly, learn Marlin’s location on the map.”3C    
A few days later, an intra-squad exhibition game was played between the White Sox and the “Chicago Blues”.  (The “White” squad wore the Sox’ home uniforms, the “Blues” wore the road uniforms.)  Admission was 25 cents.  The lineups featured Chicago’s future manager “Fielder” Jones playing outfield for the Blues, current manager Jimmy “Nixey” Callahan at second base for the Blues, and pitchers Nick Altrock and Ed Walsh in the box and also subbing for both squads in the outfield.  Comiskey, a “hands on” owner who was expected to be in Marlin, was temporarily detained on business in New York.3D   More than 250 local folks showed up for the game.  Without television or commercials, the nine innings were played at a leisurely pace and still finished in one hour and forty-five minutes!3E
Two days later the team traveled to Dallas to meet up with Comiskey and his wife and niece.  The club then split up to play weekend exhibition games in Dallas and                Fort Worth.6A   Comiskey finally arrived in Marlin on March 14.  The next day, the White Sox played a benefit game for the Ladies Social Club, with the funds going to improve Bartlett Park.3F
At this same time, two of Marlin’s city fathers went to Houston to extend an invitation to the St. Louis Cardinals to train at Marlin.  This was apparently done with the knowledge and support of White Sox officials, as manager Callahan and sportswriter Jack Tanner provided letters of recommendation.  This move may have inadvertently led to the White Sox leaving Marlin.  Although lamenting that his troops would miss the Marlin baths, Comiskey later that year reported to the Chicago press that the club would not return to Texas.  Instead, he planned an extended stay in New Orleans in the spring of 1905.6B   Comiskey wrote to Marlin saying that he preferred to come back, but could not work out the scheduling with “… the St. Louis men, who had pre-empted training places in Texas…” and who apparently wanted a commitment from the Chicago magnate that his club would spend the entire spring in Texas.3G
In early February of 1905, Arlington Hotel management received a telegram from         St. Louis Cardinals manager Charles “Kid” Nichols requesting arrangements and rates to train in Marlin the next month.  The Arlington quickly responded that the same rates and grounds that Comiskey had used last spring would be available to the St. Louis Nationals.  The Cardinals committed the following week that they would train in Marlin, and requested room reservations at the Arlington for three weeks.  Interestingly, the Arlington Hotel manager also received a letter from the St. Louis Browns expressing their interest in training that spring in Marlin.3H   Apparently this fell through, as the Browns trained in Dallas in 1905. 
The Cardinals arrived in Marlin on Sunday night, March 5, 1905.  Their contingent of players, coaches, and staff, 27 passengers in total, arrived in a private rail car on the I&GN tracks.  After a Monday morning tour of the Arlington and the east side fairgrounds ball field, Nichols expressed his satisfaction to the hotel’s manager and local newsman.3I  Also with the Cardinals were reporters from both of the major St. Louis newspapers, the Post-Dispatch and the Globe-Democrat.  Later that week, Cardinals vice president and part owner Stanley Robison returned to Marlin from Fort Worth, where he completed arrangements for games on the Cardinals return trip to St. Louis via “Indian Territory” (Oklahoma).3J
While in Marlin, the Cardinals players attended a badger fight.3K   This was a contemporary form of “entertainment” pitting a trapped wild badger against a fighting dog.  Sportswriter G.E. Palfry of the St. Louis Globe-Democrat did the “honors” of releasing the badger to start the fight.  Apparently the dog won.  An intra-squad game to benefit the local Ladies Social Club was rained out on March 15; and three days later the Cardinals headed to Waco for an exhibition game that began their return trip to St. Louis.  They arrived back in the Mound City on March 31.
The Redbirds did not return in 1906, but the Cincinnati Reds made Marlin their spring training site that season.  They arrived in town at 1am on March 6.  The Reds planned to train in Marlin for about two weeks, spend a few days in San Antonio, and then take an exhibition tour around the state.  In addition to the players, reporters from the Cincinnati Times-Star and Post accompanied the team.  Expected later that week was Reds President August “Garry” Herrmann.  A local reporter noted that Herrmann was not only team president, but also the chairman of the National Commission, “the Supreme Court in Baseball Circles” of that day.3L
The following week, Reds manager F. C. Bancroft said that he loved Marlin as a training site and that he was entering negotiations with the city and the Arlington Hotel for a three-year commitment to train in Marlin.  The local news also reported that the I&GN railroad offered a special price for Marlin fans to travel to Waco to see the Reds play: seventy five cents round trip in coach!3M
The Reds did indeed return to Marlin in 1907.  They were joined that Spring by Connie Mack’s Philadelphia Athletics.  Mack had originally planned to train in Dallas, but decided to spend at least part of that Spring in Marlin.  The “Tall Tactician” along with John Shibe, son of co-owner Ben Shibe, and the rest of the Athletics’ entourage reached Marlin on Sunday night, March 3.  They immediately went to work on Monday at the east-side grounds.3N   The Reds began to arrive early that same week, planning to have their entire squad in Marlin by Monday, March 11.  As the Reds arrived, their management expressed concern to the Arlington that both teams could not be properly accommodated.  They were assured that they would have a separate floor at the hotel, separate dining facilities, and the use of a second field at the east-side grounds.  As Mack’s men left for Dallas as planned on March 15, apparently things worked out.3O
Both clubs had their home town newspaper reporters traveling with them.  As a result, more than 6,000 words daily were dispatched from the Marlin telegraph office to the big newspapers back East.3P  
An exhibition game was planned between the Reds and Athletics for Thursday March 14.  This was such a major event that local businesses planned to close early that day so that their employees could help make a strong showing at the “big-league game.”  The weather intervened and the contest was rained out.  The Athletics left for Dallas as planned the next day.  The Reds remained, and traveled to Waco for exhibition games that weekend.  On March 25 the Reds left Marlin for New Orleans and began their trip home.  On the way, they stopped in College Station for a game with the Texas A&M squad.3Q
McGRAW, MATHEWSON AND THE GIANTS -- 1908 – 1918

“And what always makes me maddest is that the fans up North imagine that we are having some kind of a picnic in Marlin Springs, Texas.  My idea of no setting for a pleasure party is Marlin Springs, Texas.”





from “Pitching in a Pinch” by Christy Mathewson 7
In his classic 1912 book on “inside baseball,” Giants’ pitching ace Christy Mathewson devoted an entire chapter to Spring Training, circa 1908-11.  “Matty” was not being overly critical of Marlin, but rather he also complained of his aching muscles during the first few days of Giants manager John McGraw’s spring workouts.
Hall of Fame manager John McGraw was an early disciple of “scientific baseball” (also then called “the inside game,” today often referred to as “small ball”) and a proponent of rigorous spring training.  In late September, 1907, Arlington Hotel management received a letter from Texas League representatives in Dallas that inquired as to whether Marlin could give exclusive accommodations to the Giants for the Spring season in 1908.  The letter stated, “It would be much better for you to have the New York team … owing to the great amount of advertising you would get in the New York papers.  McGraw would bring about 30 or 35 people with him, including the best sporting writers in the country.”3R 
This inquiry proved persuasive.  In late December, McGraw announced to the New York media that he would take the Giants to Marlin for the 1908 pre season.8A   The Giants had trained in Los Angeles in 1907, and McGraw felt that a location with fewer distractions would be desirable for the upcoming campaign.  In early February of 1908, most of the Giants entourage left the New York City dockyards by “turbine steamship” for New Orleans, where they then proceeded over land by rail to Marlin.  
Giants’ groundskeeper John Murphy, head gardener at the New Yorkers’ Polo Grounds home field, was already in Marlin getting the field ready for the team.  Murphy said in late February, “... it is lucky they sent me ahead, as the grounds had been given up for steers, pigs, and horses… but the field is now in shape, with the infield grassy and the outfield as smooth as a billiard table.”3S, 12  
The first group of Giants players, mostly minor leaguers and other recruits trying to make the team and under the guidance of veteran catcher Roger Bresnahan, arrived in Marlin on Wednesday, February 19, 1908.  They were accompanied by sportswriters Sam Crane of the New York Journal & American and Sid Mercer of the New York Globe. In addition to reports sent back to New York, Crane also authored many of the stories that ran in the local paper the remainder of that Spring.

McGraw traveled from Los Angeles, accompanied by his wife and a small group that included “… a young California catcher named Snodgrass, who will get a trial with the New York club …”   His party arrived in Marlin on Saturday, February 22, 1908.  McGraw immediately fell in love with Marlin.  Sam Crane, writing in the Marlin Democrat, quoted McGraw as saying, “If we do win the flag this year, much of the credit will go to Marlin!”3T   By March 4, McGraw reported that all 29 players were in Marlin, and that “real practice” would start the next day.  “Mac” also noted with satisfaction that several members of the squad were much lighter than last spring.8B
After a week or so of practice, the Giants’ custom was to send split squads by rail to Houston, San Antonio, Dallas or other Texas locations to play Saturday and Sunday games.  One of the veteran players took charge of the “Yannigans,” or younger team, on their road trips.  Mathewson himself was often the chief of the Yannigan tribe.  Matty  often chided McGraw into sending more talent along with the “bushers,” so that they could maintain a competitive record compared to the veterans.  However, when intra-squad games were played “at home” in Marlin, McGraw usually captained and played with the youngsters.  An outstanding third baseman in his playing days, Mac enjoyed putting himself “in the pitcher’s box” for the Yannigans, trying to fool the veterans with his slow curve.11
Before leaving Marlin on March 19, 1908, McGraw addressed rumors that the team would not return in 1909.  Reports had surfaced in the Dallas News that parties in Dallas were actively lobbying Mac to come there, saying he would save expenses by not having to travel by rail to his weekend exhibition games.  McGraw told the Marlin Democrat reporter that these reports were not true, and he again expressed his satisfaction with Marlin as a training location.  It was further reported that Mac was close to signing a deal for next year with the Arlington Hotel.  As would become a custom, Marlin citizens gave a good send-off at the train station to the last contingent of Giants that left on Friday, March 27.
“The Giants are Coming,” trumpeted a page one story in the February 16, 1909,      Marlin Democrat.   Arlington Hotel management had received a wire from New York that the team would begin arriving later that week, accompanied by majority owner    John T. Brush.  Upon arrival, Brush began to consider a plan to purchase the ball park where the Giants practiced and turn it into a permanent facility for future years.  Brush suffered from locomotor ataxia, a progressive disease of the nervous system, and hoped to improve his health by partaking of the curative waters.  After just a few days in Marlin, Brush said he was “...deriving a world of benefit from the Marlin water … I will become a walking advertisement for Marlin.”  Likewise, sportswriter Sam Crane, who was ill upon arriving in Marlin, said he was “100% better after my first two baths in the mineral water.”3U, 13 

The Giants had a productive spring of 1909, and before leaving Marlin they signed a contract to return in 1910.  The Sporting News reported in February, 1910 that the New York writers were getting ready to head for Marlin.  Mainstays Crane and Mercer were  joined by Harry Schumacher of the New York Mail and Bozeman Bulger of the New York Evening World.   Mathewson was using the off-season to write “a series of base ball books for juveniles.”3V   On February 19, a contingent of rookies and other hopefuls arrived in Marlin in the care of Fred Merkel and catcher “Chief” Meyers.  McGraw wired ahead, telling the youngsters to “behave” until he arrived.8C   By then, McGraw’s coming to and departure from Marlin were annual “events”, and on his Monday, February 21, 1910 arrival he spoke with the press.  He told the local reporter, “The Marlin hot baths are great energizers and electrifiers, and the Giants will indulge between their practice stunts.”3W
McGraw usually received some advance word from Marlin via groundskeeper Murphy, who annually was sent ahead to get the practice fields in shape.  During January of 1912, McGraw received a letter from Murphy that warned of an outbreak of meningitis in some Texas cities.  Reports put the number of cases statewide at 1300, with 518 deaths, through the first six weeks of 1912.  After discussion with local health officials, McGraw was convinced that the danger in Marlin was minimal.3X   The decision made to proceed to Texas, Mathewson was shortly in St. Louis on February 28 in charge of 15 Giants players meeting to travel by rail on to Marlin.  McGraw and company opened spring workouts in Marlin that year on schedule on March 1.8D 

Early 1913 found groundskeeper Murphy back in Marlin.  He reported that central Texas  had a lot of rain, and that he’d just gotten to work on Emerson Park.  Apparently livestock had grazed on the outfield over the summer and fall, and he had to work the field level once more.  Murphy also relayed to McGraw that the Arlington Hotel was under new management.8E   Rain continued throughout that spring, with up to three inches reported in Marlin on one day.  The Giants often had to resort to other forms of exercise, including running, handball, and throwing medicine balls.  The club had three medicine balls in camp, one of which still exists in Marlin today!
Early in February, 1913, Olympic hero and Native American Jim Thorpe was negotiating with McGraw to play for the Giants.  Mac sealed the deal “by long distance telephone” and Thorpe was ordered to report to Marlin.  He was in camp two days later, and impressed all with his batting power.  One of his home run blasts landed “beyond the tennis courts in far left field.”3DD   McGraw stated he would probably “use the Indian at first base or in the outfield.”8F   Thorpe played parts of six seasons with the Giants, but he excelled on the gridiron and was later elected to the Pro Football Hall of Fame.  
The Spring of 1913 also marked the first visit to Marlin by new Giants’ president      H.W. “Harry” Hempstead.  He was John Brush’s son-in-law, and advanced to the club presidency upon Brush’s death in November, 1912.  As a result of an early business move by Hempstead, McGraw arrived in Marlin sporting a new $30,000 per year, five-year contract!13  

In a unique Fall appearance in Marlin, the Giants played the Chicago White Sox on November 3, 1913 at Emerson Park.  This game was part of an exhibition tour across the country to kick off the teams’ 1913-1914 World Tour.  The Marlin fans lobbied McGraw to put Mathewson in the pitcher’s box, but Matty was ill so Jeff Tesreau pitched the “home team” to an 11-1 thrashing of Comiskey’s men.  The teams went on to Los Angeles, then sailed for Japan, India, Egypt, France, and England.  Fortunately for the baseball tourists, the World War had not yet started.  They sailed from Liverpool, England back to New York on the Lusitania!11
Much of the baseball gossip around Marlin in the Spring of 1914 centered around the upstart Federal League and whether any Giants might sign with the competing league’s Brooklyn franchise.  The Federals claimed 175 player signings from National and American League rosters, and rumors swirled that Mathewson, Tesreau, and Snodgrass were contemplating “jumping”.  Once McGraw returned from the World Tour and was able to talk to his men (several of whom did not travel further than Los Angeles) he was generally able to retain their services by signing them to multiple-year contracts.3EE
New Giants’ groundskeeper Henry Fabian made his first visit to Marlin in February of 1914.  Fabian was in his first year as the Polo Grounds head gardener, having replaced John Murphy who passed away in September, 1913.  One of Fabian’s first reports to the local newsman was that Emerson Park’s pitching rubber was twelve inches too far from home plate!3FF  Matty and the other hurlers were grateful for this discovery. 
During the next few years, World War news filled the front page of the Marlin Democrat.  By this time the Democrat was affiliated with the Associated Press, so reports from the war fronts and the high seas dominated the news.  Although pushed back to page two or three, the Giants continued to be big local news.  The Giants’ party numbered 62 on the Arlington Hotel register by late February, 1915.3GG   Training was often interrupted in the Spring of 1915 due to cold weather and snow storms.  As a result, the Giants sent their “colts” on the road back to New York relatively early.  After travels that lasted two more days in Texas, six days in Oklahoma, four days in Arkansas, six days in Tennessee, and a day at Norfolk, Virginia, the youngsters arrived at the Polo Grounds on April 13.3HH
Baseball impresario Ted Sullivan, instrumental in first bringing the major leaguers to Marlin, was back in town in early 1916.  Sullivan was the featured speaker at the Orpheum Theater for “World Tour of the Giants and White Sox”, a lecture and film about the 1913-1914 World’s Baseball Tour (admission was 10 or 20 cents!)3II     Although speculation was rampant about Christy Mathewson’s retirement, he signed on for another year and was in charge of the first contingent of Giants that headed for Marlin.  McGraw arrived direct from Havana, Cuba with sportswriters Crane and Mercer and a “moving picture crew”.3JJ  
The highlight of 1916 spring training was an exhibition game with the Detroit Tigers.  The Tigers trained in nearby Waxahachie and came over to Marlin to close out the spring season.  Several Tigers, including manager and long-time McGraw friend Hughie Jennings, joined the Giants for their Farewell Ball held at the Arlington.  The next day, Friday March 24, the Giants defeated the Tigers 4-1.  Over 2000 fans from throughout Central Texas watched the game at Emerson Park.3KK
With the United States close to a declaration of war in early 1917, the Giants returned for their tenth spring in Marlin.  Groundskeeper Fabian arrived in early February, having visited his son, a student at Texas A&M, on the way.  Several improvements were underway at Emerson Park, including construction of batting cages, more grandstand seating, and piping of water to the field.  The Marlin Commercial Club was funding some of this work, as both Port Arthur and Corpus Christi were attempting to lure McGraw to their coastal cities.3LL  
McGraw needed more pitching for the 1917 season, and he had nineteen pitching prospects in camp out of a total of about fifty players.  In order to provide adequate space for everyone, plus better accommodate several exhibition games with Texas League teams scheduled for Marlin, improvements were made to a semi-abandoned ball field known as Rimes Park.  This field was described as being “on the west side”, several blocks from the Arlington.

An addition to the Giants’ entourage in 1917 was new coach Germany Schaefer.  Schaefer was a veteran infielder and renowned baseball “funny man”.  He was a special favorite of black fans in Marlin, who enjoyed his Charlie Chaplin routines and mimicking of other notables of the times.3MM  
With America’s involvement in the World War in full swing by the beginning of 1918, there were many questions about the status of professional baseball for the season.  On a trip to New York in January, Marlin’s Dr. N. D. Buie visited with McGraw and Giants’ Secretary John Foster.  Dr. Buie was assured that the Giants would return to Marlin, although wartime considerations might dictate a later arrival and shorter stay.3NN        
With great speculation about which players might be drafted for the military, the Giants arrived in Marlin on March 11.  As in 1917, both Emerson and Rimes Parks were utilized.  Emerson was used for batting, fielding and general workouts by the entire team, while Rimes was used by the pitchers and for exhibition games.  With another large contingent in camp, exhibition games could be played at Rimes concurrent with other players working out at Emerson.  A highlight of the Spring of 1918 was an exhibition game with the U.S. Army Air Service aviators from Rich Field at Waco.  After defeating the airmen 14-11 at Rimes Park, McGraw took to the air and was flown back to Waco for dinner with the commanding officers.3OO, 2
THE GIANTS AND THE MARLIN COMMUNITY

“For six weeks of every year for eleven years…the New York Giants were part of the cycle of life in Marlin.”   Charles Alexander in “John McGraw”13
During their years in Marlin, the Giants formed a close bond with the town and its citizens. For instance, the Giants regularly played exhibition games to benefit local charities.  In early March, 1909 a benefit game was held for the charity fund of the Marlin Ladies Social Club.  “Buggies, carriages, and autos were numerous around the grounds as several hundred people attended.”  The “Colts” defeated the regulars 6-5 in 10 innings.  Giants coach Arlie Latham umpired, and McGraw pitched four innings for the youngsters.3Y   Later that same spring, the Giants played a benefit for the Negro School of Waco.  The Democrat reported:  “…promoters went door to door in the colored section of Marlin and got many out to support the event.”3Z  

In March, 1910 the Giants scheduled a match with the Marlin High School team.  Business was suspended around town so that the Marlin residents could watch their lads play against the pros.  The schoolboys put up three runs while the major leaguers tallied 12 in a fun-filled game.3AA   Two weeks after 1912 spring training began, the Giants played an intra-squad game to benefit the Marlin chapter of the Daughters of the Confederacy.  This was a “full dress” nine-inning affair, and the young “Colts” defeated the regulars 6-2.8G   The Giants also put on an exhibition game to help the municipal Musical Club pay for a new grand piano.9  
Although he was fiercely competitive and often caustic during games, McGraw made a good impression in Marlin.  He was available to the local newspapers, and as a result a local reporter said upon completion of Mac’s first spring in Marlin, “McGraw has made many friends in Texas.  Off the field he is clever and courteous to all he meets.”3AB   Mac displayed his humor during a 1911 rematch with the Marlin High School team.  He divided the Giants into three squads, reflecting the players that were to travel to Houston, Galveston, and San Antonio for separate exhibitions that weekend.  Each squad was to play three innings.  “We should beat these boys,” joked McGraw, “as we’re using three teams against them.”3AC   

McGraw often lauded the virtues of training in Marlin.  Upon his arrival in 1912, he was interviewed at the Arlington and stated, “I still stick to my assertion that Marlin with its famous water is the finest place on earth for a ball team.”3AD   Annually during their last week of the spring season, the Giants participated in “thank you” outings with the citizens of Marlin.  The Marlin Commercial Club would host a fish-fry picnic at the Brazos River Falls and in return the Giants hosted a “Farewell Ball” at the Arlington.  These events were “the place to be” for Marlin society. 
McGraw was known to lose at poker in Marlin, and to win at bridge with Mathewson as his partner.  Mac also enjoyed hearing local black musicians play ragtime.  Despite his tough game day demeanor, McGraw was an easy mark for children and pets.  He owned a series of dogs, mostly Boston bull terriers, all named “Truxton” (after his birthplace, Truxton, New York).  The first of this lineage – Truxton I – accompanied the McGraws to Marlin in 1912.  Mac would be up early with his dog, usually with the salutation “It’s Truxton against the World!”   Leading by example, he was usually the first one at Emerson Park for the morning session.  When the players arrived, they might see him hitting grounders and flies to a dozen or so local black kids scattered over the field.13   

Just like today, baseball players of that era enjoyed golf.  Although not an avid golfer, McGraw could be found on the links in Marlin if he arrived in advance of the veterans.  As a high school student, Thomas Glass, later to become one of Marlin’s doctors, caddied for Mathewson and Thorpe at the local golf course.  The “Big Indian” was reported to be a scratch golfer.  Glass also gave Thorpe some tennis lessons.  Much later, at Dr. Glass’ request, Jim Thorpe returned to Marlin in December, 1951 to preside over the annual PeeWee Football “Milk Bowl”, featuring the state champions of Texas and Oklahoma. 
Thorpe was chauffeured from the Waco airfield to the Falls Hotel and around Marlin by Dr. Glass’ son, Edward.14
Matthewson was a champion checkers player, and he would often play concurrent games on the Arlington Hotel porch against the local experts.13     Matty’s only recorded checkers loss in Marlin came at the hands of Professor Plummer, the superintendent of the nearby Moody, Texas schools.  In a three game match at the Arlington in early March, 1913, Plummer prevailed by winning one and drawing two.3PP
There were a few difficult incidents during the Giants’ stays in Marlin.  Pitcher Rube Marquard got a little trigger happy and shot out some lights around Marlin (some reports say at the theater, others say at the hotel).  McGraw had to jawbone, and by some reports threaten, the sheriff to get “the Rube released from the hoosegow”.  This incident, along with long-running complaints about the quality of the food and rooms at the Arlington, were rumored to be contributing reasons for the Giants eventually leaving Marlin.2,13
SPRING TRAINING MOVES AWAY

“.. there is no nicer part of the United States, and McGraw generally brought his players out of there for the big league campaign in first rate physical condition, which he attributed partly to the climate and partly to the waters of Marlin.”
Damon Runyon (in a 1937King Features syndicated article)--  upon learning that the Arlington Hotel, Giants’ spring HQ, was to be demolished 9 
Due to post-wartime travel restrictions, spring training and the regular season were curtailed in 1919.  “Giants not Coming Here” lamented the Marlin Democrat on  February 3, 1919.  The Marlin Commercial Club had received a letter from New York Giants secretary John Foster that expressed the club’s utmost regret that they would not be able to come to Marlin.  The 1919 season was limited to 140 games, with spring training not allowed to start until March 22, and the season opener mandated for April 23.  Those restrictions, plus the fact that the Giants’ front office did not expect any other major league teams to train in Texas, forced other arrangements.3BB  

As a result, the Giants spent the spring of 1919 in Gainesville, Florida at the University of Florida campus.  The Giants then returned to Texas in 1920, but this time to San Antonio.  In December, 1919 The New York Times reported, “For many years the Giants had a training camp at Marlin Springs, Texas…McGraw has chosen San Antonio because it affords better hotel facilities and a better ball park than the New York club has had in recent years.”8H   
A contingent of Giants players returned briefly to Marlin in late February, 1923.  Twenty pitchers and a handful of catchers reported early for extra work in the care of assistant manager Hughie Jennings and coach “Cozy” Dolan.  The Kiwanis Club held a luncheon in the team’s honor, and New York writer Crane waxed nostalgic about past days in Marlin.  The Giants worked out for two weeks and then joined the rest of the team in San Antonio.  As the Giants were preparing to leave the Arlington, a group of Chicago White Sox in the charge of manager Kid Gleason arrived in the hotel’s lobby!  The Chicago group planned to spend a week in Marlin and then move on to their training site in Seguin.3QQ  

The New York battery mates left Marlin, this time for good, on March 2, 1923.8I   The White Sox group left on March 8.
Gradually, better road and rail service, along with civic-minded entrepreneurs willing to invest in training facilities and ballparks, drew more teams to Florida throughout the 1920s and ‘30s.  By 1941, only the Browns and Braves were left in Texas, where they spent their last spring at San Antonio.2
MARLIN’S BALL PARKS - EAST SIDE FIELDS AT THE FAIRGROUNDS
In hopes of attracting major league spring training, Marlin had made improvements to the ball field at their fairgrounds in the spring of 1903.  This field, variously referred to as the “east side” field, the “fairgrounds” field, or the “Comiskey” field (after its first major league tenant) was used by the White Sox, Cardinals, Reds, and A’s.  The clear potential of hosting more than one team in the spring of 1907 caused further improvements to be made.  In early January, 1907 the Marlin Democrat challenged: “Ball Grounds Must be Fixed Up – Great Opportunity for Publicity of Marlin’s Health Resort”.  The Marlin city fathers foresaw that they might host as many as three teams for spring training, but that improvements must be made to the facilities.  A second field needed to be prepared, plus the grounds should be completely enclosed.  The price:  $200 was being requested in contributions from local businesses and citizens.  The Arlington Hotel had already committed $50.  Apparently all went well, as both the Reds and the Athletics arrived two months later.3CC 
The Marlin Fair Ground of that time was located east of downtown Marlin.  A plat map from 1912 locates the “Fair Ground” in southeast Marlin, south of Park Street and east of Gresham Street.  The Falls County Fair was held here in the early 20th century, and one of the attractions was harness racing.  A racetrack, complete with grandstands, was located on this large plat of land.  During the first few decades of the 1900s, the local high school also used the race track for track meets.    
MARLIN’S BALL PARKS - EMERSON PARK
The Giants built a large park, complete with grandstands and bleachers, just south of town.  Fred Snodgrass, who arrived from California with McGraw’s party as a Giants rookie in 1908, said in a later interview that the park was about two miles from their hotel (The Arlington).  Every day, twice a day, the Giants walked from the hotel to the ball park along railroad tracks that ran close by.10   (One of the more famous spring training pictures of that era, showing the Giants walking those tracks, is credited as having been taken by Mathewson in 1913.)
Before leaving Marlin in late March, 1910, McGraw “…took a ride to the outskirts of the town and selected the place for the new ballgrounds which the people of Marlin are to present to the New York Giants.  The site finally chosen will make a fine large field, being over 400 feet square.”  This was the site that was to become Emerson Park.8L
The following Spring, the local citizens deeded this land to the Giants for as long as they trained in Marlin.  On March 7, 1911, the four acres of land were transferred to the New York Giants Club as their permanent training grounds.  This was done at a ceremony preceding a Giants intra squad game.  Marlin Postmaster Dunn R. Emerson, who owned tracts of land in south Marlin and led efforts to make ball field improvements, made the presentation.  Marlin Mayor F.S. Heffner dedicated the park by going into the pitcher’s box and pitched to Giants’ catcher Chief Meyers, with McGraw at the bat.8J  
Mathewson reported that the Marlin diamond at that time was “skinned”, meaning the infield was mostly dirt.  Although grass had been seeded on the diamond, it had not yet taken hold in March.  Matty said that tore the baseball covers and gave a different feel to the action.7  
In December, 1914, Giants president Harry Hempstead received another copy of the deed to the Marlin ballpark via the mail.8K   The property, by then called Emerson Park (also referred to as Emerson Field or Giants Park), was controlled by the Giants organization until the 1970s.2
Today, the property that was once the Giants’ spring training home is a housing project.  Records place the property, slightly more than four acres, in the area in south Marlin bounded by San Antonio, Kennedy and Bernard Streets.  A warranty deed on file describes the land as “…also known as the Emerson Ball Park …”  You can travel west from that location to the railroad tracks which still exist, and from there go north to the Marlin Post Office which sits on the property once occupied by the Arlington Hotel.  The distance is roughly a mile one-way, so Giants player Snodgrass must have been referring to a two-mile round trip to the park from the Arlington.
MARLIN’S BALL PARKS – RIMES PARK
Rimes Park was used by the Giants as a supplemental field.  It was first utilized in 1915, and more extensively in 1917 and 1918.  It is described as the “west side field”, and “a few blocks west of the Giants’ hotel (The Arlington)”.  Apparently this field was originally used by the Marlin High School baseball team and had been partially enclosed by the boys and their sponsors.  A plat map of Marlin shows a “Rimes Addition” that begins about four blocks west of the current Post Office and continues west for several blocks.  This location matches the early descriptions of Rimes Park, and places that ball field in the area bounded by Vance, Fortune, Bartlett and Bridge Streets.
Marlin briefly had a professional minor league team in the short-lived Texas Association.  The Marlin Bathers played in this “Class D” league from 1923-1925, and held most of their home games at Rimes Park. 
MARLIN TODAY
Marlin, Texas today is a quiet town of about seven thousand, the county seat of Falls County.    While many of the landmarks of the 1900’s and 1910’s are now gone, the town has several well preserved mansions and beautiful churches.  The people there are very friendly.  It’s common to see residents riding bicycles and walking to get around town. 
At the modern Pauline & Jane Chilton Memorial Marlin Public Library, pictures of by-gone days are hung on the walls just a few feet from rows of internet-connected computers.  A few blocks away, the Falls County Historical Society Museum has a mural on its north wall that includes Giants players.  Folks in Marlin seem to have a good sense of the history of their town.  
You can have a good meal in the lobby of the former Falls Hotel, and gaze across the street to where The Arlington was once located.  It doesn’t take much imagination for a baseball fan to envision the Giants players walking back down those railroad tracks, returning to their hotel.
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